### IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC., a Florida corporation, not-for-profit

Petitioner,

vs.

NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION, a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 90,835

SID J. WHITE
AUG 4 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

## PETITIONER MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC.'S SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review of a Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal

JOHN BERANEK
Florida Bar No. 005419
Ausley & McMullen
227 South Calhoun Street (32301)
/Post Office Box 391
Tallahassee, FL 32302
850/224-9115

and

LARRY R. STOUT
Florida Bar No. 189683
Smith, Hood, Perkins, Loucks,
Stout, Orfinger & Selis

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is Petitioner's Supplemental Brief under this Court's order of July 15, 1998. Pursuant to that order, Petitioner, Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc. (the "Hospital Corporation") will address "the effect, if any" of newly enacted Section 395.3036, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998). As the Court's order directed, the question is whether the statute has any effect "on this case, which is presently under review."

The Hospital Corporation incorporates herein the background and factual statement from its two previous briefs. Oral argument occurred on February 3, 1998 and the new statute did not come into effect until May 30, 1998. The primary issue in the briefs by the parties and the various amicus briefs was the validity of the decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in News-Journal Corporation v. Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc., 695 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The Florida Legislature specifically disapproved of this decision of the Fifth District in its intervening statutory enactment in 1998, Section 395.3036.

The Hospital Corporation is a private not-for-profit corporation operating a formerly public hospital under a 40 year lease pursuant to Section 155.40, Florida Statutes, as it existed in 1994. The News-Journal Corporation, a newspaper, filed suit against the Hospital Corporation asserting the Hospital's records and meetings were subject to Florida's public records and sunshine laws. The trial court relied on News and Sun-Sentinel Co. v. Schwab, Twitty & Hanser Architectural Group, Inc., 596 So. 2d 1029

(Fla. 1992) and the other cases following it and ruled in favor of the Hospital Corporation holding that the records and meetings were not within the scope of the public records or sunshine laws. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed by opinion of May 16, 1997. The Fifth District reinterpreted each factor listed in the "totality of the factors" test under the Schwab case. The District Court basically retried the case, reaching opposite factual conclusions from the trial court, on each factor. The effect was to broaden and expand public records and sunshine laws access concerning private lessees of formerly public hospitals and to extend this new approach to other areas of the law.

#### Newly Enacted Section 395.3036

On May 30, 1998, newly enacted Section 395.3036 became effective. The Hospital Corporation contends that under the previously existing Schwab standard, known as the "totality of the factors" test, the public records and sunshine laws of this state simply do not apply. The Hospital Corporation never sought an exemption from these laws before the trial court nor the District Court of Appeal. The Hospital Corporation has always contended that it is simply not within those laws based on the Schwab multiple factors test and that no exemption was necessary. This was the trial court's ruling below and remains the position of the Hospital Corporation herein. While the policy and reasons behind the new statute are obviously relevant, Section 395.3036 is not before the Court and should not have any actual effect on this case

which should be decided under the <u>Schwab</u> factors test and Section 155.40, Florida Statutes, as it existed in 1994.

The Court's July 15, 1998 order required the first supplemental brief to be filed by the Hospital Corporation. This places the Hospital Corporation in the position of anticipating the unknown arguments of the News-Journal Corporation. This newspaper has generally advised that it intends to argue that the newly enacted statute is unconstitutional and that the Hospital Corporation does not fall within the statutory "exemption" created by the new Section 395.3036.

Since neither the constitutionality nor the application (or even the existence) of Section 395.3036 has been argued before a trial court or a District Court of Appeal, the Hospital Corporation finds it impossible to anticipate the content of the arguments which will apparently now be made for the first time by the Thus this brief will address the Court's limited newspaper. jurisdiction to consider the new statute along with the general policy implications of the new statute plus the real need to reaffirm the continued existence of the Schwab test. The statute clearly indicates the Legislature's view that the Fifth District's News-Journal opinion was wrongly decided under the existing case law which the parties had appropriately relied upon in entering into their 40 year lease and privatizing the hospital. This Court should follow the legislative lead, reverse the Fifth District's opinion and reaffirm Schwab.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although newly enacted Section 395.3036, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998) is not before the Court for direct application or review, it clearly shows the Legislature's strong disagreement with the Fifth District's News-Journal Corporation opinion. The Legislature has stated that the existing (Schwab) case law standard based on the "totality of factors" is the appropriate law and should remain in effect. The Legislature obviously takes issue with the Fifth District's News-Journal opinion and this Court should follow the legislative lead. Based on all of the legal arguments previously voiced herein, the Fifth District's News-Journal opinion should be reversed.

There can be no consideration as to whether the statutory exemption created in the new statute is applicable or not applicable to the facts of this case. Obviously, the record contains nothing concerning the application of the newly enacted statute. A controversy before a trial court has yet to occur.

It would be short-sighted for this Court to merely remand and conclude that the Legislature has now solved the problem and that the present case need not be decided. The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in subsequent cases, has now used its own News-Journal Corporation opinion as a basis for abandoning the totality of factors test as established by this Court and numerous other courts. This Court should reverse the Fifth District, reaffirm the Schwab test and reinstate the trial court's ruling herein.

#### ARGUMENT

I. NEWLY ENACTED SECTION 395.3036 DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE WHICH SHOULD BE DECIDED UNDER EXISTING LAW REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION--JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE NEW STATUTE DOES NOT NOW EXIST.

Petitioner respectfully suggests that this Court does not have jurisdiction to review the constitutionality of this or any other new statute which has never been before a trial court or a District Court of Appeal. Article V, § 3(b) of the Florida Constitution limits this Court's review power to "any decision of a District Court of Appeal". This Court does not have original jurisdiction over the constitutionality of newly enacted statutes.

The District Courts of Appeal are the final courts of appeal in most cases in this state and they are the initial courts for dealing with constitutional issues. A finding by a district court that a statute is unconstitutional is subject to this Court's mandatory appellate jurisdiction under Article V, § 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution (1980). Α district court's express determination that a statute is constitutional is subject to this Court's discretionary review. Article V § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980) and Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 687 So. 2d 1292 (Fla. 1996). The "inherency doctrine" under Harrell's Candy Kitchen, Inc. v. Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority, 111 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 1959) and the prior Constitution no longer exists. Thus, this Court does not even review district court decisions which merely have the effect of upholding the validity of a There must be a written statement in an opinion statute.

"expressly" finding a statute valid before jurisdiction arises. Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, § 3.7 at 54, 55 (2d ed. 1997). If the Court has no jurisdiction to review an implicit finding of constitutionality, it certainly has no jurisdiction to review when there is no district court decision whatsoever.

A case in point is <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991). This case involved major amendments to the Florida Workers Compensation Law. As soon as the new statutes were enacted a broad declaratory decree action by multiple parties sought complete review of many aspects of the new statutes in the circuit court in Tallahassee. The trial court rendered a declaratory judgment of partial unconstitutionality in December of 1990 which was then appealed to the First District Court of Appeal which certified the case on to this Court. The Legislature convened a special session in January of 1991 to specifically address various statutory problems in the new workers compensation amendments as enacted in Chapter 90-201. This Court reviewed the declaratory decree based on the 1990 statutes, but did not review the 1991 amendments. The opinion specifically held that:

The 1991 act is not properly before this Court, and we are unable to make a binding ruling on its effect.

Justice Kogan, specially concurring, stated:

If a new challenge is raised as to the constitutionality of the statute as enacted in 1991, then it would be proper for the Court to rule on it at that time.

Martinez at p. 1176. The opinion even expressed reluctance at reviewing any of the constitutional issues concerning the statutes which had been ruled on by the trial court because they were raised

in a somewhat hypothetical declaratory decree setting. The Court only "hesitantly decline[d] to dismiss . . . sua sponte", at p. 1171.

Florida statutes as enacted by the legislative branch are presumed to be constitutional and courts are to resolve all doubts in favor of constitutionality. Schultz v. State, 361 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1978); Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1957) and Martinez v. Scanlan at p. 1172. The Petitioner/Hospital Corporation will not take it upon itself to manufacture arguments against the constitutionality of this totally untested and valid statute.

The case also presents a further procedural oddity because the Florida Attorney General has already appeared as amicus in favor of the News-Journal. Now, the Attorney General should be given notice that the News-Journal makes a constitutional attack on the statute. The Attorney General has the right to be heard and to defend the constitutionality of this statute. See Section 86.091, Florida Statutes (1995).

Although we will not anticipate what arguments will actually be made by the News-Journal, we do suggest that this Court's jurisdiction to consider such arguments should be initially addressed in any brief filed by the News-Journal.

Although the new statute is not directly before the Court, its policy implications strongly favor a reversal herein. The Florida

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We, of course, retain the right to respond to any and all constitutional arguments in the reply brief.

Legislature has expressly disagreed with the Fifth District's NewsJournal opinion in the new Section 395.3036. The statute specifically recognizes the existence of and prior reliance on the "case law" test of the "totality of factors". The new statute states that, "In a recent decision however, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has now applied the standard in a [more expansive] manner" and that this will result in harm to the "best interest of the public". Rarely, does the Legislature specifically refer to a particular district court opinion in passing new legislation to remedy the effects of that new court decision. The new legislation makes clear the legislative view that the case law (Schwab) standard of the "totality of factors" should continue to apply and that the Fifth District has wrongly deviated from that standard.

If the <u>News-Journal</u> opinion is vacated and the trial court judgment reinstated, then the <u>Schwab</u> factors test for the application of public records and sunshine laws will remain in place. That case law standard and the new statute are completely consistent and will exist side by side as the governing law on all aspects of these issues. As pointed out in the briefs, health care is by no means exclusively a governmental obligation.

The Hospital Corporation has already thoroughly argued, both in its briefs and orally before this Court, that it is simply not within the scope of Florida's public records and sunshine laws. We will not repeat all of those arguments. The existing law of this state is as enunciated in the <u>Schwab</u> test and the cases following it. The Legislature even noted that leases under Section 155.40,

as entered into by the Hospital Corporation, have been fashioned by the parties in reliance upon that existing case law standard.

This Court should apply that existing law and hold that the trial court correctly analyzed the totality of all the factors and reached a correct decision.

## II. ANY FUTURE APPLICATION OF THE NEW STATUTE WILL REQUIRE FACTUAL AND LEGAL DETERMINATIONS.

We have no idea what arguments News-Journal may make to support its suggested position that the new statute will have no application to the Hospital Corporation. If this Court were to affirm the Fifth District's opinion, contrary to the trial court's decision and the now obvious will of the Florida Legislature, then the Hospital Corporation may well seek the benefits of the new statute at some point in the future. Application of that new statute will require factual and legal determinations before a circuit court. That prerequisite consideration and application of the new statute has not yet occurred.

# III. THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE CONTINUED VALIDITY OF THE <u>SCHWAB</u> FACTORS TEST BECAUSE THE FIFTH DISTRICT HAS NOW ABANDONED THAT TEST BASED ON ITS OWN <u>NEWS-JOURNAL</u> OPINION IN OTHER AREAS OF THE LAW.

It may be suggested that the Florida Legislature has thoroughly dealt with this problem in the newly enacted statute and therefore this Court should not trouble itself with deciding this case under existing law. We respectfully suggest that any such view would be short-sighted because the Fifth District Court of Appeal has now abandoned the factors test as enunciated in <u>Schwab</u> and the numerous cases following it.

In the very recent <u>Stanfield v. Salvation Army</u>, 695 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) opinion, the Fifth District cited its own <u>News-Journal Corporation</u> opinion for a new test as to the application of public records and sunshine laws to entities entering into contracts to provide professional services to a governmental agency. The Fifth District has announced that the new test is whether there has been an "assumption of a governmental obligation". <u>Stanfield</u> at p. 503. Because of this finding, the Fifth District has announced that:

It is unnecessary to engage in the factor-by-factor analysis outline by <a href="Schwab">Schwab</a>.

The <u>Stanfield</u> decision involved an agreement by the Salvation Army to provide probation services to Marion County. The Salvation Army handled the supervision of misdemeanor offenders under a private contract. Obviously, this was not a hospital lease under Section 155.40, but the Fifth District abandoned the factor-by-factor test under <u>Schwab</u> and substituted a new "governmental obligation" test in its place. Hospital care is most definitely not solely a governmental function or obligation.

It is thus necessary for this Court to reaffirm the validity and existence of the <u>Schwab</u> factor-by-factor test and in doing so reverse the Fifth District's <u>News-Journal</u> opinion.

#### CONCLUSION

The Fifth District opinion should be reversed and the final judgment of the trial court reinstated. This result is completely proper under the existing law as applied by the trial court and without resort to the newly enacted statute. However, the 1998 statute (Section 395.3036) clearly supports reversal of the Fifth District, but need not be directly applied to reach this result.