SID J. WHITE

# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DEC 12 1997

CLERK,	SUPPLEME COL	RT
Ву		man.
Chi	of Deputy Clerk	~Y-

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-WEST VOLUSIA, INC., a Florida corporation, not-for-profit,

Petitioner,

vs.

**NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION**, a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

FILEI

CASE NO. 90,835

DEC 18 1997

Char Daying Chark

# RESPONDENT NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review of a Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal

Jonathan D. Kaney Jr.
Fla. Bar No. 0115251
Jonathan D. Kaney III
Fla. Bar No. 0023426
COBB COLE & BELL
150 Magnolia Avenue
Post Office Box 2491
Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2491
Telephone: (904) 255-8171
Facsimile: (904) 238-7003

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida right of public access to governmental meetings and records may not be frustrated by evasive devices. From the beginning, the courts and legislature of Florida have held that a public body may not evade the right of access by delegation of public functions to ostensibly private actors. This anti-evasion doctrine animates both the public meetings law and the public records law.

The present transaction is readily seen to be a delegation of governmental function. The Authority collaborated with MHS to create a corporate surrogate and effected a gross transfer of assets, functions, and obligations to the surrogate. Whether viewed as a whole or factor-by-factor, the evasive effect of the arrangement is readily apparent. Thus the public right of access to both records and meetings of the Corporation should be affirmed.

Against the public right of access, Corporation appears to make four arguments which Publisher identifies and answers in the four points of this brief.

Public Policy. Corporation argues that the public policy of the state impels the conclusion that Section 155.40 was intended to create a pathway to avoidance of the open government laws. On the

contrary, the public policy of the state is specific that all public hospitals are subject to open government laws except as expressly exempted by legislative act. Neither public policy nor implication of the statute authorizing this transaction supports the conclusion that Corporation should be excused from accountability under the acting-on-behalf clause for its stewardship of public resources entrusted to it for a public purpose. In any event, a legislative policy that granted public property to autonomous self-perpetuating private groups would violate the Constitution.

Standard of Review. Corporation argues that the district court should have applied a deferential standard of review to the trial court's application of law to the facts. On the contrary, all cases in the Schwab line have exercised plenary review over this question. Corporation misunderstands the case upon which it relies for this argument.

Application of Schwab. Corporation disputes the district court's application of the totality of the factors test, but the factors clearly show the essential truth of the transaction. The Authority instigated the creation of Corporation, negotiated the terms of its charter, and transferred to it substantial public assets solely in exchange for its promise to improve and use these assets in the place and stead of the Authority to carry out the public purpose of the Authority. It assigned to the Corporation the exclusive rights to perform the functions of the Authority within the district and retained power to assure these functions are performed through strict and enforceable covenants in the

Agreement. Corporation is a surrogate whose meetings and records should be open to the public except as specifically provided by law.

Sunshine. Corporation argues that the Sunshine law should be applied only to entities that are under the control of the delegating agency. Such a test is inconsistent with the vigorous judicial doctrine that the Sunshine law cannot be evaded through delegation to private actors. This doctrine is the source of the statutory clause in the public records law. Even before the public records act was amended to include the acting-on-behalf clause, this Court had construed the Sunshine Law to apply to a private group to which the power to act on behalf of a public body had been delegated. Both laws should be construed in harmony to prevent evasion through private delegation.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE PUBLIC POLICY OF FLORIDA REQUIRES MEETINGS AND RECORDS OF PUBLIC HOSPITALS TO BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC EXCEPT AS EXEMPTED BY LAW.

Corporation argues that Section 155.40 articulates a policy that public hospitals should be immune to open government laws and permits such hospitals to avoid these laws through transactions with not-for-profit surrogates.<sup>5</sup> Thus it pleads for a special rule

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See Pet. Br., at 24-30 (argument loosely based on policy for implied exemption because "had the Legislature intended [public scrutiny], it could and would have expressed the intent in the law"); Pet. Br. at 32-33 (argument that the statute is a factor "which should have been viewed as equal to or more important than [Schwab factors]"); FHA Br., at 6-10 (public scrutiny "would impair the express legislative intent of Section 155.40"); ACH Br., at 17 ("[I]f the Legislature had intended for Chapter 119 to apply to a Section 155.40 transaction it could have said so").

for hospitals because "hospital services are not the same [as other governmental functions]." *Pet. Br.*, at 27. The Court should reject this plea.

# A. Florida public policy requires all meetings and records of public hospitals to be open unless specifically exempted by law.

The public policy of Florida is directly against the plea for a special judicial exemption. In 1991, when the legislature specifically considered and dealt with the public policy issue, it reaffirmed:

All meetings of a governing board of a public hospital, as well as all records, books, documents, and papers, shall be open and available to the public . . . unless made confidential or exempt by law.

Laws of Florida (1991), Chapter 91-219, § 3 (codified at Section 395.3035(1), Florida Statutes).

In 1991, the legislature was aware of the concern for competitive secrecy. To address this concern, it shield marketing plans, exemptions to trade secrets, competitively sensitive contracts. Id. In 1995, the legislature reconsidered, readopted, and expanded this policy and these exemptions. Laws of Florida (1991), Chapter 95-199. Therefore the state has no public policy favoring the privatization of records and meetings of public hospitals. However much public hospitals may dislike public scrutiny, that dislike is patently not the policy of the state.6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Corporation speculates that the need for competitive parity (i.e. the "level playing field") motivated the legislature in 1982 to immunize Section 155.40 lessees, but the hospital briefs show this need arose only later as a result of more recent economic

Thus there is no basis for the argument that Section 155.40 was enacted for the purpose of solving the "problem" created by the public right of access to records and meetings of public hospitals. At the same time, there is no cause for concern because the legislature has now addressed the issue with specific exemptions.

B. It is improper to imply exemptions and unreasonable to construe Section 155.40 as if the legislature intended to immunize from public scrutiny a private entity acting thereunder on behalf of a public agency.

The argument for an implied exemption relies solely on speculation concerning extra-textual legislative intent in the absence of any public record of legislative history. Based on its flawed "public policy" theory, the Corporation argues that "it simply was not the intent of the Legislature" that the open government laws would apply to corporations acting under Section 155.40. Pet. Br., at 28.

developments. Thus FHA is reduced to arguing that the legislature in 1982 was "sufficiently foresighted" to solve this problem before it arose. FHA Br., at 7.

Although the legislature could have exempted all records and meetings of public hospitals in 1991 (or repealed Chapter 119, for that matter), it is now constrained by FLA. CONST., art. I, §24(c). As Corporation notes, a clause of the 1995 amendment allowing plans" closure  $\circ f$ discussions  $\circ f$ "strategic was unconstitutional as broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose of the exemption. See Halifax Hospital Medical Center v. News-Journal Corporation, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2587, 1997 WL 713567 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The ruling does not question the public necessity of providing exemptions to protect the competitive parity of exemptions.

<sup>\*</sup>See Pet. Br., at 28 (enumerating "three reasons behind its passage" but citing no public record of legislative history). No hospital brief cites any public record evidencing legislative history or "reasons behind" this statute, which was adopted as a rider on a bill pertaining to nonprofit corporations. Laws OF FLORIDA (1982), Chapter 82-147, § 1.

This argument is deeply flawed. To reach the conclusion that the legislature intended Section 155.40 entities to be exempt, it is first necessary to concede that the legislature understood that such a corporation otherwise would be covered by the law. But if it is conceded that the legislature understood that a corporation acting under Section 155.40 could be subject to the acting-onbehalf clause, then the argument for exemption is reduced to a bare claim of exemption by implication from silence. Because chapter 119 clearly states the strong public policy that all records are public, silence implies inclusion and not exclusion. Cf., e.g., Bludworth v. Palm Beach Newspapers, Inc., 476 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 488 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 1986). The Court will not infer an exemption from legislative silence nor out of concern for public policy issues. Douglas v. Michel, 410 So. 2d 936 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), certified questions answered, 464 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1985). Exemptions may be created only by the legislature and may not be implied or created by the courts. Wait v. Florida Power & Light Company, 372 So. 2d 420, 425 (Fla. 1979).

The deep flaw in the Corporation's attempt to tease an exemption out of Section 155.40 is that it ascribes to the legislature the intent to allow public boards to contrive transactional schemes to evade otherwise applicable open government laws. If the legislature had been persuaded of the need, it could have adopted a categorical exemption in 1991 when it was studying this issue. Since it clearly declined such a direct and allencompassing approach in 1991, it is unreasonable to infer that it had intended to achieve this result indirectly in 1982.

It is more reasonable to infer that the legislature intended that the public records law would apply to a corporation acting under Section 155.40 if the totality of the factors so indicated. When this statute was adopted in 1982, the acting-on-behalf clause was part of chapter 119, and it had been construed in the landmark "totality of the factors" case of Schwartzman. A statute must be construed in light of the presumption that the legislature knows the law. Stern v. Miller, 348 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 1977).

Indeed, the argument that the legislature intended to create a blanket exemption for all Section 155.40 lessees proves too much. This statute allows a hospital board to fashion any relationship with the corporation that it wishes. Even Corporation must concede that not every Section 155.40 lessee should be immune to the public right of access. *Pet. Br.*, at 26 (conceding statute grants "wide discretion on the degree of involvement").

Plain reason thus shows that the statute does not afford immunity to an entity otherwise acting on behalf of the public agency. On the contrary, when it is remembered that the statute requires that the lessor approve the charter, retain the reversion, and secure the assumption of indigent care, it is apparent that the lessee begins the factorial analysis with significant connections to its governmental sponsor. Thus there is no basis in reason, law, or policy to infer that the legislature thought it was opening a pathway to evasion of the public right of access when it adopted this statute. For the same reason, there is no justification for the hospitals to argue that the present case has changed the rules

of the game or that any party should be granted exemption solely on the basis of contractual expectations.

C. The public accountability of a corporation acting under Section 155.40 is essential to the constitutional validity of the transfer of public property.

The most serious flaw in the "public policy" argument is that the constitution would not allow the legislature to make such a policy. Corporation argues that Section 155.40 articulates a public policy to "remove government from the rendition of hospital services and shift that activity exclusively to the private sector." Pet. Br., at 28. Thus it contends the present lease "is tantamount to a total divestiture of authority and control by the Authority during the term of the lease." Pet. Br., at 27. If this were the policy, it would be unconstitutional.

All hospitals to which this statute applies are public property, and every transaction pursuant to its authority entails the transfer of such property to a private entity. Such a transaction can be sustained under the Constitution "only when there is some clearly defined and concrete public purpose and reasonable expectation that such purpose will be substantially and

<sup>&</sup>quot;Compare Pet. Br., at 31 (decision would impair "preexisting contract rights"); FHA Br., at 13 ("impermissible and unfair changing of the rules in the middle of the game"); and ACH Br., at 16 (decision would "impair those pre-existing contract rights") with Palm Beach County Classroom Teacher's Assn v. School Bd of Palm Beach County, 411 So. 2d 1375, 1376 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), quoting Mills v. Doyle, 407 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) ("to allow the elimination of public records from the mandate of Chapter 119 by private contract would sound the death knell of the Act"). Cf. Cook v. Navy Point, Inc., 88 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1956) (contract with government body that does not comport with legal requirements is void).

effectively accomplished. [A]bsent a measure of public control and a primary public purpose to be served, [such a transaction] is not authorized by Constitution of Florida." O'Neil v. Burns, 198 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1967). See FLA. CONST., art. VII, § 10. The statute does not allow public hospitals to be transferred beyond effective public control because such a transaction would be void as "an unconstitutional application of Section 155.40 by placing the hospital effectively beyond public control." Palm Beach County Health Care District v. Everglades Memorial Hospital, Inc., 658 So. 2d 577, 580 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) rev. dism'd 670 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1996) (applying FLA. CONST., art VII, § 10).

Corporation can justify this transfer only if it shows the Authority took the pains to assure that it will perform the public purpose for which these assets were accumulated and that it retained controls sufficient to protect the public interest. Ultimately, the transaction can be justified but only because the Authority took those pains in the Agreement. The Agreement regulates Corporation in the manner that the district court aptly described as "real control." News-Journal Corporation, at 421. Such a relationship is precisely that to which the acting on behalf and anti-evasion rules of the public records and public meetings laws are intended to apply. There is no room within the narrow constitutional guidelines allowing for transfer of public property to a private actor for such autonomy as Corporation claims. Indeed, the same analysis which saves this Agreement from

invalidity under *Everglades* demands that open government laws apply to Corporation. 10

# II. THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS UNDER SCHWAB IS A MATTER OF LAW FOR THE TRIAL COURT SUBJECT TO PLENARY REVIEW BY THE APPELLATE COURT.

The Corporation relies heavily on the argument that the district court applied the wrong standard of review. It argues "[t]he trial court should have been affirmed because the very thoughtful and thorough judgment . . . was a matter within the trial court's proper judgment based on substantial and competent evidence." Br. 23. This argument misconstrues Trepal v. State, 22 Fla.L. Weekly S737 (Fla. 1997), and it should be rejected because it would inappropriately accord deference to a trial court's legal analysis of undisputed facts.

Everglades by amending Section 155.40 to allow "total and complete privatization of public hospitals." Pet. Br., at 24. See Laws of FLORIDA (1996), Chapter 96-304. See also Corporation's Answer Brief in the DCA at pages 37-41 (suggesting the amendments were intended to "overturn Everglades"). On the contrary, the 1996 amendment addressed Everglades by increasing rather than decreasing the required public involvement. By requiring that a sale be at fair market value, the legislature plainly did not intend to approve a sale on "sweetheart" terms comparable to this lease.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Should have . . . simply affirmed the trial court's legally well-supported final judgment")(sic); Id., at 22 (district court was "precluded from substituting its judgment for that of the trial court"); Id., at 35 (district court was wrong to "rely on an analysis of its own making"); Id., at 23 (district court "simply disagreed and attempted to explain away the trial court analysis").

# A. The issue under Schwab is a mixed question of law and fact for which the Court applies a mixed standard of review.

Schwab presents not merely a factual issue but a mixed question of law and fact. Deciding such a question involves the distinct steps of identifying the historical facts, selection of the applicable rule of law, and the application of the law to the facts. In deciding the Schwab cases, the courts consistently have reviewed findings of fact under the substantial competent evidence standard, but they have reviewed the application of law to the facts under the plenary standard.

In Sarasota Herald-Tribune, 582 So.2d. at 732, the district court reversed even though the trial court had conducted a "thorough evidentiary hearing and prepared an extensive final judgment with findings of fact and conclusions of law." Id. at 732. The court stated that "[w]e find no fault with the trial court's findings of fact. We conclude, however, that the trial court misapplied our decision in [Fox]." Id. at 733. Thus, the

<sup>12</sup> See, e.g., Ornelas v. United States, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 1662 (1996) quoting Pullman-Standard v. Swint, 456 U.S. 273, 289, n. 19 (1982) (In a mixed question, "[t]he historical facts are admitted or established, the rule of law is undisputed, and the issue is whether the facts satisfy the [relevant legal] standard, or to put it another way, whether the rule of law as applied to the established facts is or is not violated." Cf. In re Adoption of Baby E.A.W., 647 So. 2d 918, 923 (Fla. 4th DCA) approved 658 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 1995) ("The issue is . . . do the facts constitute abandonment under the statute and case law. This requires a legal rather than a factual determination, although the entire equation is a mixed question of law and fact, as it so often is").

court deferred to the findings of fact but exercised plenary review of the application of law to these facts. 13

This Court did the same thing in Schwab. It applied the plenary standard to the undisputed facts and modeled its factorial analysis after the plenary analysis in Sarasota Herald-Tribune. Moreover, the other three cases approved in Schwab had exercised plenary review of the legal question. See Parsons & Whittemore (reversing trial judge on legal grounds); Fox (exercising plenary review of record in affirming trial judge); Schwartzman (reversing trial judge based on plenary review of record and articulation of factors).

Corporation is wrong to suggest that *Trepal* signals a departure from this standard. In *Trepal*, the Court published and approved the factorial analysis of the trial court. It stated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This is consistent with the usual approach to mixed questions. E.g., Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Mancusi, 632 So. 2d 1352, 1357 (Fla. 1994) ("When the facts relied on to show probable cause are in dispute, their existence is a question of fact for determination by the jury; but their legal effect, when found or admitted to be true, is for the court to decide as a question of law"); Row v. United States Auto. Assn, 474 So. 2d 348, 349 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) ("[R]esidency of a party is a question of law and fact to be settled or determined from the facts of each particular case. When the facts are essentially undisputed, however, whether those facts fit within the [insurance] policy definition is a question of law that may be decided on appellate review). See also  $\hat{S}$ tate v. Seltzer, 667 So. 2d 343, 346 (Fla. 1995) (denial of motion to suppress is mixed question of law and fact and reviewing court reviews facts deferentially but "we are to review the [trial] court's application of the law to the facts de novo"). application of law to fact is sufficiently fact-bound, however, the courts apply a deferential standard of review. E.q., Mills v.State, 462 So. 2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1985) (manifest error required to overturn trial court determination of mixed question of competency of juror challenged for cause because the personal assessment of the juror by the judge is intrinsic to the conclusion).

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